



Edition 1.1 2024-03 CONSOLIDATED VERSION

# INTERNATIONAL STANDARD



Secondary cells and batteries for renewable energy storage – General requirements and methods of test – Part 2: On-grid applications

INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION

ICS 29.220.20

ISBN 978-2-8322-8676-0

Warning! Make sure that you obtained this publication from an authorized distributor.

### CONTENTS

FO	REWC	RD	5	
1	Scop	e	7	
2	Norm	native references	7	
3	3 Terms and definitions			
4	Gene	eral considerations	. 14	
5	Gene	eral test conditions	. 15	
Ę	5.1	Accuracy of measuring equipment	. 15	
	5.1.1	Voltage measurements	. 15	
	5.1.2	Current measurements	. 15	
	5.1.3	Temperature measurements	. 15	
	5.1.4			
	5.2	Test object considerations		
	5.3	Test object battery selection and size considerations		
	5.4	Test plan		
6		ery endurance		
	6.1	General		
	6.2	Test for endurance in frequency-regulation service		
	6.3	Test for endurance in load-following service		
	6.4	Test for endurance in peak-power shaving service		
7	6.5 Rotte	Test for endurance in photovoltaic energy storage, time-shift service ery properties and electrical performance		
-				
	7.1	Declaration of the system properties		
	7.2	Determination of energy content at +25 °C ambient temperature	. 38	
	7.3	Determination of the energy efficiency during endurance tests at +25 °C ambient temperature	. 38	
-	7.4	Determination of the energy efficiency during endurance tests at the minimum and maximum ambient temperature	.40	
-	7.5	Determination of waste heat generated during endurance tests at the maximum ambient temperature	44	
7	7.6	Determination of energy requirements during periods of idle state at +25 °C ambient temperature	46	
Anr	nex A	(informative) Battery-related hazards		
	A.1	General	49	
	A.2	Examples		
Anr	nex B	informative) Supplemental test profile for frequency regulation duty service		
E	B.1	General	51	
E	B.2	The Annex B profile for evaluating battery endurance in frequency-regulation duty	51	
E	B.3	Test procedure		
E	B.4	Examples of data acquired with the 6.2 and the 24 h Annex B sequence		
Bib	liograp	bhy	. 57	
Fig	ure 1 -	- Boundary of the full-sized battery (FSB)	. 16	
Fig	Figure 2 – Two-step selection process of the test object battery (TOB)			
Figure 3 – Workflow for the determination of endurance properties and electrical performance of the TOB as governed by the sequence of test data generation within				
			. 18	

IEC 61427-2:2015+AMD1:2024 CSV - 3 - © IEC 2024

Figure 4 – Sequence of performance tests carried out with TOB 1 within an endurance test 6.x	18
Figure 5 – Workflow and decision tree for endurance tests 6.2 through 6.5	
Figure 6 – Frequency regulation service test routine profile (6.2) – Profile a	23
Figure 7 – Frequency regulation service test routine profile (6.2) – Profile b	24
Figure 8 – Frequency regulation service test routine profile (6.2) – Profile c	24
Figure 9 – Schematic view of the evolution of battery voltage over time during cycling with constant power discharge and charge pulses	25
Figure 10 – Load-following service test routine profile (6.3) – Profile a	28
Figure 11 – Load-following service test routine profile (6.3) – Profile b	28
Figure 12 – Load-following service test routine profile (6.3) – Profile c	29
Figure 13 – Daily peak-power shaving service test routine profile (6.4)	31
Figure 14 – Daily photovoltaic energy storage time-shift service test routine (6.5) – 3 kW	33
Figure 15 – Daily photovoltaic energy storage time-shift service test routine (6.5) – 30 kW	34
Figure 16 – Schematic view of the location of the two sets of energy values (energy to auxiliaries and energy to and from TOB) to be used for the determination of the energy storage efficiency factor $\eta$	39
Figure 17 – Schematic view of the location of the two sets of energy values (energy to auxiliaries and energy to and from battery) to be used for the determination of the amount of waste heat generated	45
Figure 18 – Schematic view of the location of the two sets of energy values (energy to auxiliaries and energy to battery) to be used for the determination of the energy requirements during periods of idle state of the battery	47
Figure B.1 – 24 h sequence of the Annex B profile for a supplemental evaluation of the service-induced performance decay of a battery in frequency-regulation service	52
Figure B.2 – Development of excessive on-charge voltage levels after about 40 days of simulated frequency-regulation with the 6.2 c profile	55
Figure B.3 – Decay of charge acceptance resulting, after about 20 days, in the need for an increased number of SoC <sub>OT</sub> recovery actions when tested with the Annex B	
sequence profile	56
Table 1 – Summary of endurance test related electrical property data of the full-sized   (FSB) and the test object (TOB) battery	36
Table 2 – Summary of physical dimension data of the full-sized battery (FSB)	
Table 3 – Summary description of the full-sized battery (FSB)	
Table 4 – Summary description of the test-object battery (TOB)	
Table 5 – Summary of the constant power discharge performance of the TOB at an ambient temperature of +25 °C $\pm$ 3 K	
Table 6 – Summary of energy efficiencies determined in endurance tests at an ambient temperature of +25 $^{\circ}$ C $\pm$ 3 K	
Table 7 – Summary of energy efficiencies determined in endurance cycle tests at the minimum and maximum ambient temperature	42
Table 8 – Parameters to achieve and maintain the target operational state of charge, SoC <sub>OT</sub> , during tests at the minimum ambient temperature	43
Table 9 – Parameters to achieve and maintain the target operational state of charge, SoC <sub>OT</sub> , during tests at the maximum ambient temperature	44

REDLINE VERSION	- 4 -	IEC 61427-2:2015+AMD1:2024 ( © IEC 2	
Table 10 – Summary of energy releasedmaximum ambient temperature		•	46
Table 11 – Summary of energy required during idle state periods $% 10^{-1}$ at +25 $^{\circ}C\pm 3~K$ ambient temperature			48
Table A.1 – Non-exhaustive listing of pot consideration in risk assessment activitie			49
Table A.2 – Non-exhaustive listing of pot in consideration in risk assessment activ			50

#### INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION

#### SECONDARY CELLS AND BATTERIES FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY STORAGE – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS AND METHODS OF TEST –

#### **Part 2: On-grid applications**

#### FOREWORD

- 1) The International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) is a worldwide organization for standardization comprising all national electrotechnical committees (IEC National Committees). The object of IEC is to promote international co-operation on all questions concerning standardization in the electrical and electronic fields. To this end and in addition to other activities, IEC publishes International Standards, Technical Specifications, Technical Reports, Publicly Available Specifications (PAS) and Guides (hereafter referred to as "IEC Publication(s)"). Their preparation is entrusted to technical committees; any IEC National Committee interested in the subject dealt with may participate in this preparatory work. International, governmental and non-governmental organizations liaising with the IEC also participate in this preparation. IEC collaborates closely with the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) in accordance with conditions determined by agreement between the two organizations.
- 2) The formal decisions or agreements of IEC on technical matters express, as nearly as possible, an international consensus of opinion on the relevant subjects since each technical committee has representation from all interested IEC National Committees.
- 3) IEC Publications have the form of recommendations for international use and are accepted by IEC National Committees in that sense. While all reasonable efforts are made to ensure that the technical content of IEC Publications is accurate, IEC cannot be held responsible for the way in which they are used or for any misinterpretation by any end user.
- 4) In order to promote international uniformity, IEC National Committees undertake to apply IEC Publications transparently to the maximum extent possible in their national and regional publications. Any divergence between any IEC Publication and the corresponding national or regional publication shall be clearly indicated in the latter.
- 5) IEC itself does not provide any attestation of conformity. Independent certification bodies provide conformity assessment services and, in some areas, access to IEC marks of conformity. IEC is not responsible for any services carried out by independent certification bodies.
- 6) All users should ensure that they have the latest edition of this publication.
- 7) No liability shall attach to IEC or its directors, employees, servants or agents including individual experts and members of its technical committees and IEC National Committees for any personal injury, property damage or other damage of any nature whatsoever, whether direct or indirect, or for costs (including legal fees) and expenses arising out of the publication, use of, or reliance upon, this IEC Publication or any other IEC Publications.
- 8) Attention is drawn to the Normative references cited in this publication. Use of the referenced publications is indispensable for the correct application of this publication.
- 9) IEC draws attention to the possibility that the implementation of this document may involve the use of (a) patent(s). IEC takes no position concerning the evidence, validity or applicability of any claimed patent rights in respect thereof. As of the date of publication of this document, IEC had not received notice of (a) patent(s), which may be required to implement this document. However, implementers are cautioned that this may not represent the latest information, which may be obtained from the patent database available at https://patents.iec.ch. IEC shall not be held responsible for identifying any or all such patent rights.

# This consolidated version of the official IEC Standard and its amendment has been prepared for user convenience.

IEC 61427-2 edition 1.1 contains the first edition (2015-08) [documents 21/862/FDIS and 21/863/RVD] and its amendment 1 (2024-03) [documents 21/1179/FDIS and 21/1194/RVD].

In this Redline version, a vertical line in the margin shows where the technical content is modified by amendment 1. Additions are in green text, deletions are in strikethrough red text. A separate Final version with all changes accepted is available in this publication.

- 5 -

**REDLINE VERSION** 

International Standard IEC 61427-2 has been prepared by IEC technical committee 21: Secondary cells and batteries.

A list of all parts in the IEC 61427 series, published under the general title Secondary cells and batteries for renewable energy storage – General requirements and methods of test, can be found on the IEC website.

This publication has been drafted in accordance with the ISO/IEC Directives, Part 2.

The committee has decided that the contents of this document and its amendment will remain unchanged until the stability date indicated on the IEC website under <u>webstore.iec.ch</u> in the data related to the specific document. At this date, the document will be

- reconfirmed,
- withdrawn, or
- revised.

IMPORTANT – The 'colour inside' logo on the cover page of this publication indicates that it contains colours which are considered to be useful for the correct understanding of its contents. Users should therefore print this document using a colour printer.

#### SECONDARY CELLS AND BATTERIES FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY STORAGE -**GENERAL REQUIREMENTS AND METHODS OF TEST**

#### Part 2: On-grid applications

#### 1 Scope

This part of IEC 61427 relates to secondary batteries used in on-grid Electrical Energy Storage (EES) applications and provides the associated methods of test for the verification of their endurance, properties and electrical performance in such applications. The test methods are essentially battery chemistry neutral, i.e. applicable to all secondary battery types.

On-grid applications are characterized by the fact that batteries are connected, via power conversion devices, to a regional or nation- or continent-wide electricity grid and act as instantaneous energy sources and sinks to stabilize the grid's performance when randomly major amounts of electrical energy from renewable energy sources are fed into it.

Related power conversion and interface equipment is not covered by this part of IEC 61427.

#### 2 Normative references

The following documents, in whole or in part, are normatively referenced in this document and are indispensable for its application. For dated references, only the edition cited applies. For undated references, the latest edition of the referenced document (including any amendments) applies.

None.

### CONTENTS

F	OREWO	RD	5
1	Scop	e	7
2	Norm	ative references	7
3	Term	s and definitions	7
4	Gene	ral considerations	14
5	Gene	ral test conditions	15
	5.1	Accuracy of measuring equipment	15
	5.1.1	Voltage measurements	
	5.1.2	Current measurements	15
	5.1.3	Temperature measurements	15
	5.1.4	Time measurements	15
	5.2	Test object considerations	
	5.3	Test object battery selection and size considerations	
_	5.4	Test plan	
6		ry endurance	
	6.1	General	
	6.2	Test for endurance in frequency-regulation service	
	6.3	Test for endurance in load-following service	
	6.4 6.5	Test for endurance in peak-power shaving service	
7		Test for endurance in photovoltaic energy storage, time-shift service	
1			
	7.1	Declaration of the system properties	
	7.2	Determination of energy content at +25 °C ambient temperature	38
	7.3	Determination of the energy efficiency during endurance tests at +25 °C ambient temperature	38
	7.4	Determination of the energy efficiency during endurance tests at the minimum and maximum ambient temperature	40
	7.5	Determination of waste heat generated during endurance tests at the maximum ambient temperature	44
	7.6	Determination of energy requirements during periods of idle state at +25 °C ambient temperature	
A	nnex A (	informative) Battery-related hazards	
	A.1	General	49
	A.2	Examples	
A	nnex B (	informative) Supplemental test profile for frequency regulation duty service	
	B.1	General	51
	B.2	The Annex B profile for evaluating battery endurance in frequency-regulation duty	51
	B.3	Test procedure	
	B.4	Examples of data acquired with the 6.2 and the 24 h Annex B sequence	
Bi	bliograp	hy	
Fi	gure 1 -	- Boundary of the full-sized battery (FSB)	16
	-	- Two-step selection process of the test object battery (TOB)	
	-	- Workflow for the determination of endurance properties and electrical	
pe	erformar	ace of the TOB as governed by the sequence of test data generation within	18

IEC 61427-2:2015+AMD1:2024 CSV - 3 - © IEC 2024

Figure 4 – Sequence of performance tests carried out with TOB 1 within an endurance test 6.x	18
Figure 5 – Workflow and decision tree for endurance tests 6.2 through 6.5	20
Figure 6 – Frequency regulation service test routine profile (6.2) – Profile a	23
Figure 7 – Frequency regulation service test routine profile (6.2) – Profile b	24
Figure 8 – Frequency regulation service test routine profile (6.2) – Profile c	24
Figure 9 – Schematic view of the evolution of battery voltage over time during cycling with constant power discharge and charge pulses	25
Figure 10 – Load-following service test routine profile (6.3) – Profile a	28
Figure 11 – Load-following service test routine profile (6.3) – Profile b	28
Figure 12 – Load-following service test routine profile (6.3) – Profile c	29
Figure 13 – Daily peak-power shaving service test routine profile (6.4)	31
Figure 14 – Daily photovoltaic energy storage time-shift service test routine (6.5) – 3 kW	33
Figure 15 – Daily photovoltaic energy storage time-shift service test routine (6.5) – 30 kW	34
Figure 16 – Schematic view of the location of the two sets of energy values (energy to auxiliaries and energy to and from TOB) to be used for the determination of the energy storage efficiency factor $\eta$	39
Figure 17 – Schematic view of the location of the two sets of energy values (energy to auxiliaries and energy to and from battery) to be used for the determination of the amount of waste heat generated	45
Figure 18 – Schematic view of the location of the two sets of energy values (energy to auxiliaries and energy to battery) to be used for the determination of the energy requirements during periods of idle state of the battery	47
Figure B.1 – 24 h sequence of the Annex B profile for a supplemental evaluation of the service-induced performance decay of a battery in frequency-regulation service	52
Figure B.2 – Development of excessive on-charge voltage levels after about 40 days of simulated frequency-regulation with the 6.2 c profile	55
Figure B.3 – Decay of charge acceptance resulting, after about 20 days, in the need for an increased number of SoC <sub>OT</sub> recovery actions when tested with the Annex B	
sequence profile	56
Table 1 – Summary of endurance test related electrical property data of the full-sized   (FSB) and the test object (TOB) battery	36
Table 2 – Summary of physical dimension data of the full-sized battery (FSB)	
Table 3 – Summary description of the full-sized battery (FSB)	
Table 4 – Summary description of the test-object battery (TOB)	
Table 5 – Summary of the constant power discharge performance of the TOB at an ambient temperature of +25 °C $\pm$ 3 K	
Table 6 – Summary of energy efficiencies determined in endurance tests at an ambient temperature of +25 °C $\pm$ 3 K	40
Table 7 – Summary of energy efficiencies determined in endurance cycle tests at the minimum and maximum ambient temperature	42
Table 8 – Parameters to achieve and maintain the target operational state of charge, $SoC_{OT}$ , during tests at the minimum ambient temperature	43
Table 9 – Parameters to achieve and maintain the target operational state of charge, SoC <sub>OT</sub> , during tests at the maximum ambient temperature	44

FINAL VERSION	- 4 -	IEC 61427-2:2015+AMD1:2024 © IEC	
Table 10 – Summary of energy releasedmaximum ambient temperature		•	46
Table 11 – Summary of energy required ambient temperature	0	•	48
Table A.1 – Non-exhaustive listing of po consideration in risk assessment activities			49
Table A.2 – Non-exhaustive listing of po in consideration in risk assessment activ			50

#### INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION

#### SECONDARY CELLS AND BATTERIES FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY STORAGE – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS AND METHODS OF TEST –

#### Part 2: On-grid applications

#### FOREWORD

- 1) The International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) is a worldwide organization for standardization comprising all national electrotechnical committees (IEC National Committees). The object of IEC is to promote international co-operation on all questions concerning standardization in the electrical and electronic fields. To this end and in addition to other activities, IEC publishes International Standards, Technical Specifications, Technical Reports, Publicly Available Specifications (PAS) and Guides (hereafter referred to as "IEC Publication(s)"). Their preparation is entrusted to technical committees; any IEC National Committee interested in the subject dealt with may participate in this preparatory work. International, governmental and non-governmental organizations liaising with the IEC also participate in this preparation. IEC collaborates closely with the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) in accordance with conditions determined by agreement between the two organizations.
- 2) The formal decisions or agreements of IEC on technical matters express, as nearly as possible, an international consensus of opinion on the relevant subjects since each technical committee has representation from all interested IEC National Committees.
- 3) IEC Publications have the form of recommendations for international use and are accepted by IEC National Committees in that sense. While all reasonable efforts are made to ensure that the technical content of IEC Publications is accurate, IEC cannot be held responsible for the way in which they are used or for any misinterpretation by any end user.
- 4) In order to promote international uniformity, IEC National Committees undertake to apply IEC Publications transparently to the maximum extent possible in their national and regional publications. Any divergence between any IEC Publication and the corresponding national or regional publication shall be clearly indicated in the latter.
- 5) IEC itself does not provide any attestation of conformity. Independent certification bodies provide conformity assessment services and, in some areas, access to IEC marks of conformity. IEC is not responsible for any services carried out by independent certification bodies.
- 6) All users should ensure that they have the latest edition of this publication.
- 7) No liability shall attach to IEC or its directors, employees, servants or agents including individual experts and members of its technical committees and IEC National Committees for any personal injury, property damage or other damage of any nature whatsoever, whether direct or indirect, or for costs (including legal fees) and expenses arising out of the publication, use of, or reliance upon, this IEC Publication or any other IEC Publications.
- 8) Attention is drawn to the Normative references cited in this publication. Use of the referenced publications is indispensable for the correct application of this publication.
- 9) IEC draws attention to the possibility that the implementation of this document may involve the use of (a) patent(s). IEC takes no position concerning the evidence, validity or applicability of any claimed patent rights in respect thereof. As of the date of publication of this document, IEC had not received notice of (a) patent(s), which may be required to implement this document. However, implementers are cautioned that this may not represent the latest information, which may be obtained from the patent database available at https://patents.iec.ch. IEC shall not be held responsible for identifying any or all such patent rights.

# This consolidated version of the official IEC Standard and its amendment has been prepared for user convenience.

IEC 61427-2 edition 1.1 contains the first edition (2015-08) [documents 21/862/FDIS and 21/863/RVD] and its amendment 1 (2024-03) [documents 21/1179/FDIS and 21/1194/RVD].

This Final version does not show where the technical content is modified by amendment 1. A separate Redline version with all changes highlighted is available in this publication.

- 5 -

#### FINAL VERSION

International Standard IEC 61427-2 has been prepared by IEC technical committee 21: Secondary cells and batteries.

A list of all parts in the IEC 61427 series, published under the general title Secondary cells and batteries for renewable energy storage – General requirements and methods of test, can be found on the IEC website.

This publication has been drafted in accordance with the ISO/IEC Directives, Part 2.

The committee has decided that the contents of this document and its amendment will remain unchanged until the stability date indicated on the IEC website under <u>webstore.iec.ch</u> in the data related to the specific document. At this date, the document will be

- reconfirmed,
- withdrawn, or
- revised.

IMPORTANT – The 'colour inside' logo on the cover page of this publication indicates that it contains colours which are considered to be useful for the correct understanding of its contents. Users should therefore print this document using a colour printer.

#### SECONDARY CELLS AND BATTERIES FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY STORAGE – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS AND METHODS OF TEST

#### Part 2: On-grid applications

#### 1 Scope

© IEC 2024

This part of IEC 61427 relates to secondary batteries used in on-grid Electrical Energy Storage (EES) applications and provides the associated methods of test for the verification of their endurance, properties and electrical performance in such applications. The test methods are essentially battery chemistry neutral, i.e. applicable to all secondary battery types.

On-grid applications are characterized by the fact that batteries are connected, via power conversion devices, to a regional or nation- or continent-wide electricity grid and act as instantaneous energy sources and sinks to stabilize the grid's performance when randomly major amounts of electrical energy from renewable energy sources are fed into it.

Related power conversion and interface equipment is not covered by this part of IEC 61427.

#### 2 Normative references

The following documents, in whole or in part, are normatively referenced in this document and are indispensable for its application. For dated references, only the edition cited applies. For undated references, the latest edition of the referenced document (including any amendments) applies.

None.